

Immigrant Welfare: A Research Perspective

#### **Author:**

Liffman, Michael

#### Publication details:

Working Paper No. 6 Reports and Proceedings 0858232022 (ISBN)

#### **Publication Date:**

1981

#### DOI:

https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/1005

#### License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/45316 in https://unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-04-19

# SVVRC Reports and Proceedings

## IMMIGRANT WELFARE A Research Perspective

by

Michael Liffman



#### SWRC REPORTS AND PROCEEDINGS No. 6 April 1986

Reprinted

June 1989

#### IMMIGRANT WELFARE

A Research Perspective

by

Michael Liffman

ISSN 0159 9607 ISBN 0 85823 202 2

Social Welfare Research Centre
The University of New South Wales
PO Box 1 · Kensington · NSW · 2033 · Australia

Printed on the inside and outside back cover is a complete list of the Reports and Proceedings series of the Social Welfare Research Centre.

For further enquiries about the work of the Centre, or about purchasing our publications, please contact the Publications Officer, Jennifer Young at the SWRC, University of New South Wales, PO Box 1, Kensington, NSW, 2033. Phone: (02) 697 5150.

As with all issues in the Reports and Proceedings series, the views expressed in this publication do not represent any official position on the part of the Centre. The Reports and Proceedings are produced to make available the research findings of the individual authors, and to promote the development of ideas and discussions about major areas of concern in the field of Social Welfare.

#### CONTENTS

Foreword	
LOTEMOTO	

INTRODUCTION	:
SECTION I - THE IMMIGRANT EXPERIENCE	5
1. Language and Communication	$\epsilon$
2. Culture	-
3. Experience and Knowledge	9
4. Resettlement	10
SECTION II - HOW SYSTEMS DEAL WITH IMMIGRANTS	14
Example One: Social Security	15
Example Two: Child Care	22
SECTION III - DETERMINANTS OF HOW SYSTEMS INTERACT WITH IMMIGRANTS	25
a) basic orientation	25
b) location	28
c) working methods	30
SECTION IV - SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	34
APPENDIX A - Diagrammatic Summary: Social Security	38
BIBLIOGRAPHY	39

#### Foreword

In its research agenda, the Social Welfare Research Centre has four "population" streams which deal with: the welfare of young children; the welfare of women and of families; the welfare of the workforce; and the welfare of elderly people.

The Centre does not have a team which deals exclusively with the welfare of immigrants. This does not imply any lack of interest in that third of our population which is of recent ethnic origin; it simply means that it was not considered appropriate, from a research perspective, to separate welfare issues relating to immigrants from those relating to the Australian population as a whole.

The special position immigrants occupy in Australian society, however, has to be recognized. Hence there is a need to develop a conceptual basis for including the ethnic component in research topics. For this reason, Michael Liffman of the Ecumenical Migration Centre\* was asked to prepare a background paper which might guide researchers towards the development of such a conceptual basis. The paper contains material which is useful not only for researchers but also for those planning and delivering services for immigrants; accordingly, the Centre has decided to publish it.

Liffman takes three analytical questions: what is encompassed by the term "immigrant"; how are immigrants affected by welfare systems; and what determines outcomes in immigrant/agency interactions. He discusses four factors which must always be taken into account in developing any services for immigrants; language and communication; culture; experience and knowledge; and resettlement. With a grasp of these issues Liffman deals illustratively with two "welfare fields", social security and child care, identifying:

- a) issues common to the whole community,
- b) issues common to all, but in which immigrant circumstance intensifies any problems; and

c) issues unique to immigrants.

The framework for analysis should prove of great help to those planning research studies and those planning and delivering services. The framework is just that - for as Liffman points out, there are no firm answers to this issue, just options!

Adam Graycar Director Social Welfare Research Centre

April 1981

\* Ecumenical Migration Centre 133 Church Street Richmond, Vic. 3121 Telephone (03) 428 4948

#### INTRODUCTION

This paper was prepared at the request of the Social Welfare Research Centre following discussions about the most appropriate way in which the Centre could deal with issues which relate to the welfare of immigrants. Since that early conception of the purpose of the project, this paper has evolved in two significant ways.

First, it soon became apparent that a simple listing of issues of concern to immigrants, and the research implications of these issues, might not be very fruitful. Such statements are already in abundant supply. The Commonwealth Government's Review of Services to Migrants (the Galbally Report), the more recent Survey of Information Needs of Migrants, and the N.S.W. Ethnic Affairs Commission's Report "Participation" have added to, and maybe consolidated, a substantial amount of documentation already in existence. (A valuable summary of the information available prior to the Galbally Report is contained in "It's Not the Thought That Counts ...: Reviews of the Immigrant Situation before Galbally" by Lidio Bertelli in Migration Action Vol. IV Number 1 (1979)). Indeed, to those working in migrant welfare, it seemed that the need was not for the generation of more research into migrant needs, but for more action on those needs, or at least for research clearly directed at relieving - rather than simply identifying - them. Moreover, one of the particular difficulties in much of the current attention being paid to "migrant problems" is the tendency, inherent in that approach, to regard migrant issues as separate from the more general welfare issues facing the Australian community, and to see them from a "problem" perspective. Such a focus is based on a superficial understanding of the meaning of multiculturalism which, both philosophically and pragmatically, falls short of an effective approach to migrant welfare in a country which is the second most cosmopolitan in the world.

Accordingly, the approach which has been taken in this paper is to develop an analytic framework through which the way in which any welfare issue relates to immigrants can be systematically identified, and the key variables made more specific. In this way, it is hoped, immigrant issues may be more readily seen in their larger context, rather than as isolated, peripheral matters, and any consideration of welfare systems can incorporate the immigrant dimension from the outset. From this perspective, research possibilities will emerge which are integrally related to other wider questions.

Second, although this paper was originally directed specifically at the work of the SWRC, its approach has been to make it relevant to other agencies, and to planning and evaluative, as well as research, functions. Again, what is offered is an analytic framework which such agencies might attempt to use in assessing their own service and planning activities, or in establishing directions for research.

The paper suggests three basic analytic questions which should be asked of any welfare issue in order that the immigrant interest in the subject can be ascertained. The first three sections of the paper discuss these questions in detail, suggest their components and, together, comprise the framework referred to above.

In broad terms, the basic issues are:

- 1. What, in specific terms, is encompassed by the term "immigrant"?
  It is suggested that the key aspects of the immigrant circumstance which, in any specific situation, can be identified in fairly concrete terms are:
  - language and communication
  - culture
  - experience and knowledge
  - resettlement

Alongside these factors must then be placed the immigrants' "non-immigrant" roles, e.g. socio-economic status, family status, etc.

- 2. How are immigrants affected by the particular welfare system under study?

  In specifically examining the relevant field to answer this question,

  it is useful, both conceptually and empirically, to consider:
  - those issues faced by immigrants in their dealings with the system which are in fact not distinctive to immigrants but are encountered by all users of that system
  - those issues faced by immigrants which are common to other users of the system but which affect immigrants more actuely due to circumstances arising out of the immigrant situation
  - those issues faced by immigrants uniquely which arise directly out of the immigrant situation.

- 3. What are the factors which determine the outcome identified in question 2, i.e. what determines the interaction between immigrants and welfare systems?

  In general terms, the variables which should be examined appear to be:
  - (a) the basic orientation of the system:
    - . assimilative and universal
    - . assimilative and ethnic-targetted
    - . pluralist
    - . ethnic
  - (b) its location within the larger welfare structure
  - (c) working methods within the system

Two examples - that of social security and child care - are used.

The approach suggested in this paper requires use, testing, development and change. But fundamental to it is the recognition that immigrants are a full and equal component of the nation's welfare constituency. Graycar (1) has written of the role the welfare system has in determining the level of exclusion in Australian society, i.e. what groups are excluded, by what means, from which of society's benefits? As such, the welfare system is part of the battle-ground in which several of the key interests in Australian society stake their claim on the community's physical and moral resources. Seen in this framework, immigrants risk a double exclusion. Inasmuch as they are users of the welfare system they face the deprivations encountered to varying degrees by all users of welfare - at a level likely to increase in the 1980s. Inasmuch as welfare planners and deliverers fail to accord immigrants the same rights and opportunities conceded to non-immigrant Australian welfare users, immigrants face a degree of exclusion even from the welfare system.

A focus on immigrants as an integrated part of the welfare system, as well as according immigrants their rights as citizens, can yield important insights into the overall operation of that system, and especially its treatment of other sections of the community which in some way deviate from the rather constrained norm which the system currently assumes, e.g. unemployed youth,

<sup>(1)</sup> Graycar, A. "Social and political constraints" in R. Henderson (ed.) The Welfare Stakes, Melbourne: I.A.E.S.R. 1981, Chap. 5.

single mothers, the disabled. For those concerned with changing situations, as well as understanding them - whether their strategies be those of research and policy development or community and political action - an integrated focus can indicate the wider interests, populations and forces which are embodied in the various policy options.

To use a simple example: on the narrowest, most excluding approach - but one which still applies in many authorities, institutions and agencies - services are made available to all those who can negotiate them in the customary language of an ostensible Anglo-Australian norm: English. Even the simplest piece of observational research will show that this denies proper welfare service to many citizens. An approach looking at immigrant needs, but without any underlying analytic framework, might identify this as a problem which is either inevitable and must be lived with; or which can be dealt with by some rather ad hoc action, such as the use of other family members or volunteers as interpreters; or - at best - requires the use of the Telephone Interpreter Service, multilingual literature or some other form of minimal service of last resort. A focus which integrates immigrant needs into the overall system might question some basic assumptions about communication strategies, recruitment and deployment of personnel, and service priorities, which might be of relevance not only to immigrants but to other people who are excluded from effective service by virtue of their ignorance of proper procedures, their intimidation by bureaucratic processes, or their inaccessibility to the service.

The concluding section of this paper looks at the implications of this approach for research. Some specific research topics are suggested but, in fact, agencies will have their own areas of concern, and the range of welfare issues which are of relevance to immigrants is as broad as the welfare field itself.

More importantly, therefore, several strategies are suggested whereby the approach developed in this paper can be used either to integrate immigrant perspectives into any research which is to be undertaken, or to consider in more detail some of the key themes and factors discussed by examining the way they manifest themselves in one or several areas of welfare.

#### SECTION I - THE IMMIGRANT EXPERIENCE

Many of Australia's citizens are immigrants. This has implications for policies and service systems even though the term "immigrant" lacks terminological specificity. Perhaps, therefore, the first step in developing a practical analysis of this issue is to identify in more precise terms what is being talked about in any discussion on immigrants and their needs, so that empirical variables of relevance to policy and service planning can be identified.

First and foremost it must be realized that immigrant identity is only part of an individual's total identity. He or she remains — in addition to being a migrant — a citizen, or at least a permanent resident of Australia; a member of a family; a member of a particular socio—economic stratum; a person with a certain workforce status; and, above all, an individual. The role that his immigrant identity has in the total constellation of factors that determine his place in society is, in any specific instance, problematic, and cannot be taken for granted. Many immigrants do not perceive their immigrant origin as being of significance and, indeed, in some instances, would prefer it to be ignored. Others identify their immigrant origin as being a most important facet of their total personality and situation in the community.

Inasmuch as immigrant identity is important in any individual instance, it then becomes necessary to further analyze the components of this identity. The following conceptualization is by no means especially sophisticated or theoretical; it simply attempts to introduce more precision into the understanding of the meaning of the term "immigrant". What is suggested is that there are four basic facets to the immigrant identity or the immigrant experience. Taken together they assist in understanding the implications of the term "immigrant" for the development of policies and services.

(It should be noted, too, that the facets of immigrant identity discussed in the following do not necessarily apply only to immigrants, although almost certainly the degree of their operation and the extent of their impact will affect immigrants far more intensely than others. Thus, a poorly educated Australian-born person may have some difficulty with technical or bureaucratic English, and a bush-dweller's life experience may have provided him with little knowledge of Department of Social Security procedures - but the non-

English speaking immigrant's disadvantage in this regard is certainly more acute. However, it is useful to understand that the immigrant's difficulty is not necessarily unique but rather an extension of that faced by many other Australians, and that the study of the welfare needs of immigrants can therefore yield insights of value to wider issues).

#### 1. Language and Communication

By virtue of the fact that he is an immigrant, that is, was born in a country other than Australia, a person may have a different capacity in language and communication in English than his Australian-born counterparts. Of course, no generalizations can be made in this respect. The capacity of an individual immigrant to communicate in English may range from the two extremes of complete capacity in English (bearing in mind, of course, that many immigrants come from English-speaking countries) to a total lack of any capacity in the English language. These two extremes are easy to identify, and in the case of the latter, the need for some special provision to overcome the total obstacle of speaking no English is easy to recognise (notwithstanding that our community often remains remarkably uncaring in the face of this sort of disadvantage). However, what is less commonly realized is that in between these two extremes there can be a vast range of different capacities to communicate in English. Some people may speak and understand English fairly well; others may understand but not speak especially well. Some people may cope with both speaking and understanding fairly well in normal situations, but may have great difficulty with written English, with bureaucratic English, with technical language or with communication in situations of tension or distress. Some people may appear to speak or understand more English than they do, may overestimate their own ability, or in some instances may be too embarrassed or ashamed to admit their difficulty. All of these capacities relate to the effectiveness of the communication that can take place between a client and a service system or provider. Usually the complex and subtle range encompassed by this issue is totally neglected by service systems. The rudimentary provision which is occasionally made - for example, the provision of translated leaflets or notices, the occasional resort, in cases of severe language difficulty, to a professional interpreter or, more commonly, the use of an untrained intermediary who happens to speak the language of the client - rarely addresses other than the most dramatic instances of communication difficulty and is often not effective even in meeting those situations.

Nor do these strategies address another neglected but very disabling consequence of limited ability in English. Few factors can so effectively transform a person's total identity as an inability to speak the language of those around him. In this situation achievement, intellect, fluency and literacy in the person's own language, and even personality itself, may be obliterated at least in the perception of those with whom he is failing to communicate. The effect of this, not only on actual communication but also on the relationship between clients and welfare workers is a vital dynamic in service delivery to immigrants.

The issue, therefore, of language and communication, even though the most visible aspect of the immigrant experience, still tends to be mishandled in terms of the failure of service systems and personnel to understand the complexity and the variety of situations encountered and to provide adequately for them. Any attempt to understand the interaction of immigrants with welfare services must, therefore, begin with an analysis of the full range of communication difficulties which might be encountered and of the means which might be developed to overcome them.

#### Culture

The current upsurge of interest in immigrants, and the increasing use of the term "multiculturalism", has led to a growing awareness of the concept of culture. However, in this awareness there are potential traps. All too often popular understanding of culture is a superficial one; a stereotyping one; and one which serves to divide communities rather than help build bridges of understanding or sensitivity.

Culture is often understood as being an exotically different aspect of national or ethnic behaviour: ethnic foods, costumes, music, dance, etc. As such, it is easily understood, tolerated, and even enjoyed. The more relevant and significant concept of culture, however, is one which is both more profound and more limited. Culture, in the important sense, relates to the deep aspects of individual and group life. It deals with attitudes, values and assumptions about such universals as birth, illness, death, pain, understanding of sex and family roles, of faith, divinity, luck, future, progress, misfortune and the like. In this sense it is a deep and not easily understood facet of individual and group identities.

Culture is also subject to many sorts of variation and, of course, to personal interpretation, and for this reason it can be dangerously misleading to assume that everyone of a certain ethnic group or immigrant background shares and accepts a common and easily described cultural view. For instance, a simplistic view of culture often views it - mistakenly - as synonymous with nationality i.e. all Yugoslavs share the same culture. Culture in fact arises out of ethnicity, rather than nationality, and many nations embrace several or many ethnicities e.g. Switzerland, Yugoslavia, Niu Gini. Likewise culture changes over time, so that the cultural perspectives of modern Greece may, in significant ways, be different from those which prevailed at the turn of the century. Most importantly, socio-economic factors impinge on culture and in certain instances, carry with them their own cultural dimensions. Throughout the world, village people hold in common many experiences and attitudes not shared by their urban compatriots; and it is interesting to speculate on whether a Spanish brain-surgeon would find more common ground with an Australian brain-surgeon than with a Spanish olive-grower.

While culture shapes many attitudes and perceptions, so too does individuality and experience; and while many universal experiences have a cultural component, there is also much that is common among people.

Culture also must not be seen as a phenomenon by which only immigrants are affected, and from which Australian-born people are free. All groups are part of a set of cultural functions; thus, in the instance of health workers, it is important not only to develop a sensitivity to cultural factors shaping the response of, say, Greeks, to health care or illness or death, but also to recognize that other cultural factors shape the approaches of Australian-born service deliverers and service systems. Our belief in the important role of medication, for instance, is culturally shaped in just the same way as is the belief of other people in the role of prayer or herbal treatment.

The concept of culture is, therefore, limited by the operation of other factors, such as current and previous socio-economic status, adaptation to Australian styles and, above all, individuality. Moreover, many commonalities are found in the basics of human behaviour; apparent cultural differences in the experience of grief or loss, for example, may obscure many feelings and behaviours which are shared by different cultures.

#### Experience and Knowledge

One of the dangers in using over-simplified understandings of the role of culture is that such understandings can lead to stereotyping of immigrant groups, superficial explanations of their apparent behaviour and a type of "blaming the victim" in which the difficulties encountered by immigrants are attributed to deep-seated and fairly immovable cultural traits in their own behaviour. What is often overlooked in such understanding is that much of the behaviour of immigrants in a new country is due not to culture but to the much more straight-forward factor of their failure to understand arrangements, procedures and assumptions in the new country. This failure to understand is due simply to the fact that in the country of their origin these arrangements and procedures were different, and that newcomers are simply unfamiliar, uninformed, ignorant, about the arrangements here. What is required, therefore, is a recognition that some of the assumptions which are basic to dealing with relevant systems in this country may not be shared, simply out of ignorance, by newcomers to a country; and that these newcomers may be used to other arrangements - which are equally valid, effective and well-established, especially if viewed in their proper socio-cultural context.

Thus, for instance, if a migrant from an eastern European country proves very reluctant to approach police or officials for assistance, this is not necessarily indicative of a deep-seated resistance to authority or a streak of criminality. It is more likely simply to reflect the very different role which police have in authoritarian countries and accordingly the different response of people to that role. To give another example, if migrants do not avail themselves of health insurance, this does not necessarily reflect a profound element of fatalism in their personal make-up: it may be nothing more than the fact that in the country from which they have come there has been no similar system of health insurance and the system operating here has never been adequately explained to them.

Often this difference of personal experience - rather than a cultural gap - is the reason immigrants whose experiences in their country of origin are very different from those which they in fact encounter in their new home may find themselves confused and ineffective in their day-to-day dealings, and may be - unfairly - perceived as 'problems' by service deliverers. For this reason, too, newcomers may also become disenchanted with their country of

adoption, as a result of their false expectations, to the extent, not uncommonly, of wishing to return to their homeland. Some refugees from the Soviet Union, for instance, have found themselves surprised and dismayed at the limited availability of pre-school care, the cost of medical treatment, or the difficulty of obtaining work appropriate to their training and experience.

In attempting to ensure that migrants have complete access to, and a proper understanding of, welfare systems in our community, it is therefore important to understand the starting assumptions or information with which migrants will be approaching our arrangements. Often, attempts to encourage usage of services assume a basic familiarity with those services which may not, in fact, exist.

#### 4. Resettlement

One experience which is common to all immigrants is resettlement. All immigrants have, by definition, come to Australia from another country. In so doing, they have left their homes, their schools, their jobs, their friends and families and had to begin again. The circumstances of their resettlement will, of course, vary vastly; but its impact will always be felt.

Some people who chose to emigrate left an advantaged position and were able to bring with them some of their advantage. Others were forced to emigrate because of war, civil disorder, or poverty; many were, in fact, refugees.

Some people have been here only a few months, others may have been here for forty years. Some have come alone without any friends or relatives to assist them in the new country; others have come in large families or have been met by extended families and effective supporting groups here. In all instances, however, the fact and nature of their departure and resettlement will have certain implications for their lives here, although the nature of these implications will vary depending on the circumstances of their departure and resettlement, and the length of their residence in Australia.

The sorts of implications which might arise, depending on these circumstances, can be illustrated by a few examples, although in any specific situation they will need to be understood with reference to that situation. So it is likely that, for instance, an immigrant who has arrived only recently in Australia from a situation of poverty, with little educational background,

will be more willing than most people to accept a job which may not really meet his personal inclinations or needs, which may be poorly paid, unattractive, unhealthy and inadequately protected. Such a person might also be likely to work overtime, might not be in a position to take advantage of English classes, might not make a well-considered choice of where to live. A migrant who has come to Australia as a refugee, not particularly wishing to settle in Australia, may show, for quite a few years, a degree of pre-occupation with circumstances in his country of origin and possibly a desire to return. An immigrant who has come from a country in which guest-working arrangements are common may approach his new life in Australia with some uncertainty as to its permanence and may place a high priority on sending money to relatives back home. An immigrant from a country which is already well represented in Australia may tend to settle within the community of his ethnic background, while an immigrant who has an extensive education in a technical area may move more readily into a milieu which is defined less by his ethnic or immigrant background than by his professional background.

Nor is it only the background and capacity of the immigrant which may vary and affect his fate in Australia. Circumstances in Australia also vary from place to place and time to time. An immigrant settling in a rural area will face different opportunities, obstacles and attitudes from those facing someone arriving in a large city. A worker immigrating in the 1950s will have encountered employment opportunities very much unlike those currently available.

What is common, however, to this variety of behaviour and circumstance is that the fact of departure from country of origin and resettlement in a new country in some way is likely to impinge on the experiences, attitudes, approaches and needs of all immigrants. Moreover, the role of the "resettlement" effect will vary, not only according to the circumstance of the individual, but also in response to the stages of his own life history.

The effects of resettlement on a newly-arrived immigrant with regard to his choice of job, home and the like arefairly easy to recognize, and the Australian community does indeed show a certain sympathy to the pressures facing the newly-arrived immigrant. There is far less awareness, however, of the difficulty facing the refugee who has settled here but after some years shows guilt or anxiety at the fate of his friends or relatives in his country of origin; or the family which seeks to have its kin overseas join those who are in Australia, whether to provide the family already here with

practical and emotional support, or because of illness, age or isolation facing those remaining overseas.

Another issue which has quite rapidly surfaced in ethnic communities in recent times, and which again shows how the effects of resettlement may be played out over an entire lifetime, concerns the ageing immigrant. After maybe thirty years of established adaptation to Australia, many immigrants - now elderly - find themselves out of the workforce, no longer living with their families or children, and increasingly nostalgic, reflective, dependent and preoccupied with their past and their ethnicity. For such people, the fact of their resettlement remains relevant - indeed possibly of growing relevance - decades after their immigration occurred.

The purpose of an analysis such as this is simply to identify with a little more precision the various components of the immigrant circumstance. It will become clear that for any individual person, some or all of these factors may play a part. In each instance, the specific configuration will vary. An immigrant from England may be unaffected by issues of language and communication, and only little affected by issues of culture. Issues of resettlement, however, may feature significantly in his situation. An immigrant from the Netherlands may face considerable issues with regard to language and communication, but cultural issues may not be especially important. A recent immigrant from Turkey or Vietnam will probably be affected by all the above issues.

As Australia's post-war immigration reaches into the second generation, we face a further issue which is relevant to this conceptualization. That is the issue of ethnicity. In the early post-war years, immigration was usually understood to be a matter affecting people who were born overseas and now lived here. Now, as significant numbers of people are born in Australia of those immigrants, we face the issue of ethnicity, that is, the situation of people who, while born in Australia, come from - and wish to retain, at least partially - an identity which is not necessarily Anglo-Australian. How the concept of ethnicity will develop in the future, and what bearing it will have on services, policies and attitudes, is only beginning to be understood. Certainly, however, it is a new and important

dimension, and one which complicates the approach that developed in the past when it was wrongly assumed that questions of immigration were short-term ones which would not persist more than one generation.

Finally there needs also to be repeated the important (if obvious) reminder that not only does the particular configuration formed by the four aspects of the immigrant identity vary from individual to individual, but that the whole question of the relationship of that configuration to any person's total identity remains problematic. That relationship is partly determined by objective fact, and partly by the subjective self-identity of the immigrant and the perception held of him by others.

In other words, as a matter of objective fact, the immigrant may also be an unemployed worker, sick patient, an ill-treated wife, an elderly man - or whatever; and it is this - as well as the immigrant identity - that determines the nature of his dealings with the welfare system. In addition, the immigrant may regard his immigrant identity as important or not, or as related to his dealings with the welfare system or not; and that identity may be perceived by the official dealing with him as relevant or not ...

A system with a too broadly - or too narrowly - developed sensitivity to its multicultural clientele may distort its service to its clients as much as a service which fails to recognize its multicultural clientele.

#### SECTION II - HOW SYSTEMS DEAL WITH IMMIGRANTS

One of the perennial dilemmas in any consideration of service provision to immigrants concerns the apparent need to choose between regarding immigrants as a special category with special needs, or regarding them as sharing the needs of their fellow citizens and not requiring special service arrangements. All too often debate about this is conducted as though one view were correct and the other incorrect. Those arguing for special arrangements for immigrants claim that in the absence of such arrangements immigrants receive a second-class service and are subject to assimilationist pressures; those contending that immigrants are best treated as part of a total population argue that only if this view is taken will mainstream services become properly sensitive to the diverse needs of their clientele. (Here again, parallels between debates in the immigrant field and in other welfare sectors can be seen. The debate about the proper basis of services for immigrants finds its counterpart in debates about, for instance, the physically disabled, about aboriginals, and the like).

Indeed, one of the issues which already seems to confront the Social Welfare Research Centre is this very debate. This present paper has been written in an attempt to guide the Centre through the process of deciding to either develop discrete research projects involving immigrants or, on the other hand, to deliberately choose to set aside such projects and include an awareness of immigrant issues in all its research projects. What follows is an attempt to map out a simple conceptual schema which may help identify more specifically the sorts of issues which service systems need to address with regard to immigrant needs and thereby indicate the sorts of arrangements which best meet those needs. This, in turn, may guide the Social Welfare Research Centre in its consideration of how immigrant issues may be incorporated into its work. Underlying this schema is a general contention that specific issues require specific arrangements, and that no general answer to the debate in the terms in which it was presented above is realistic. The framework below can be made more precise by being used in combination with the previous discussion on the various components of the immigrant circumstance. Its use will be illustrated by example.

The purpose of this framework is to identify the way in which immigrants interact with the welfare system, and to consider what light this interaction sheds on the question of how services are best delivered to immigrants in

any particular instance. A less theoretical way of stating the same is to suggest that we are looking at the problems which immigrants face in dealing with welfare services and the specific ways in which these problems might be overcome.

There appear to be three basic ways in which the immigrants' interaction with a system of welfare service may cause problems:

- Immigrants in their dealings with the system may encounter problems or issues which, in fact, are common to all people dealing with that system. These problems are, therefore, shared between immigrants and others and the immigrant dimension does not in any way affect the basic interaction.
- 2. Immigrants, in dealing with a service system, may encounter problems which are, in fact, common to other people dealing with the system but which are intensified for immigrants by circumstances arising out of being an immigrant.
- 3. There are situations in which immigrants, in dealing with a service system, face problems which are unique to them. They arise specifically out of the fact of being an immigrant and are not to any extent shared by non-immigrants in their dealings with the system.

To illustrate this, two examples of service systems will be used: firstly, the social security system, and secondly, child care. A similar analysis can be developed for other systems, e.g. employment, housing etc.

#### Example One: Social Security

#### Social Security Issues Common to the Entire Community

There are a great many problems which arise out of the social security system, and which affect many people. These are too common to require any elaboration, but can simply be noted in passing. Inadequate levels of benefit payment, limitations on appeal procedures, restrictions on eligibility criteria and the like are issues which arise out of many people's interactions with the social security system and which may affect them very severely. Such issues affect all people more or less equally and in many

instances immigrants are no more affected than others. Thus, if payment levels are too low for the support of a family with no other income, the consequences of this will affect all people in that situation regardless of immigrant status. Poverty is poverty.

### Issues Common to all but in which Immigrant Circumstance Intensifies Problems

Possibly the most common type of problem faced by immigrants arises out of situations where aspects of a particular system cause many people problems but where such problems are more likely, more acute, or more far-reaching for immigrants, for reasons which arise quite identifiably out of the immigrant circumstance and the failure of the system to make appropriate adjustments or to show sufficient flexibility to cope with such circumstances.

In relation to social security issues, a very obvious example concerns the whole issue of access, information and awareness. Problems arising out of dealings with bureaucracies and out of complicated procedures are commonplace. Difficulties in face-to-face communication with counter clerks or officials over complex matters are further intensified by many welfare recipients' lack of knowledge of their rights and their entitlements, and of the procedures which are available to them; for obvious reasons, however, immigrants are far more likely to be affected by these difficulties or will be more severely affected by them than others. Limited language ability compounds these difficulties. Such difficulties limit immigrants' access at the most practical level of their dealings with bureaucracies. They are also likely to render them even more ignorant of their rights and may well undermine confidence. It is in such ways as these that immigrants encounter special disadvantages in dealing with the social security system. The general nature or class of the difficulty is such that it is shared to an extent by non-immigrants - e.g. a problem of access, or of communication, or of understanding - but its specific form or degree is aggravated by factors arising out of the immigrant circumstance - e.g. language, or unfamiliarity with procedures.

At this stage in the present analysis, it becomes apparent that the conceptualization of aspects of immigrant circumstance discussed in the previous section of this paper can be related to this framework. Of the four aspects of immigrant circumstance which can be distinctly identified,

the one which is most relevant here is that of language and communication. At other points, as will be seen, it is other aspects of the immigrant circumstance which interact with a service system to create a particular problem. What emerges from this conceptualization is a structured analytic key by which the nature and cause of a particular problem can be traced.

Another example of the same sort of analysis in the social security sector arises out of the range of issues within the workers' compensation area. Again, many people in the community are affected by lack of information and knowledge about the appropriate way of dealing with workers' compensation matters. Obviously, however, immigrants are more likely to be more ignorant of these issues. Here, again, to refer back to the earlier identification of aspects of immigrant circumstance, the issue is partly one arising out of language and communication, but it is also one which arises out of the basic familiarity with the system. In other words, someone may speak English well - indeed perfectly - but if he has come from a country in which workers' compensation procedures are entirely different he is unlikely to have an immediate grasp of the procedures or even the assumptions underlying them. Where, in addition, he does have a communication difficulty, he is doubly disadvantaged. The matter of workers' compensation and, in particular, its legal aspects, is a highly complicated one which causes many people difficulties. The immigrants' double disadvantage therefore occurs in a matter which is inherently complicated and problematic, and in which procedural difficulties affect even people who are not immigrants.

Another aspect of the workers' compensation system which again shows the various ways in which immigrants may be further disadvantaged in their dealings with it concerns the lump sum payment associated with the settlement of workers' compensation claims. In some countries the practice of making such payments is not known. For this and other reasons many people find it difficult to determine the best way of using a lump sum payment and may mis-spend it or not invest it wisely. It is not uncommon, for instance, for immigrants to use such payments to return to their country of origin for a visit. The reasons for this are entirely human and understandable. They may wish to take the last opportunity they will have to return home and see their friends and relatives; they may wish to seek a medical opinion from someone with whom they feel more affinity; they may wish to demonstrate to their relatives and friends that in spite of the injury they are not

entirely disabled. However, the use of a lump sum payment for this purpose may, in the long run, cause difficulties. Usually such payments are intended to be invested so as to provide continuing income; where they are spent over a short period of time, financial problems may well develop after return home.

In this example, all four aspects of the immigrant circumstance may play their part in bringing about this situation and in causing the intensification of the problem faced by immigrants in dealing with lump sum settlements. They may have chosen to deal with the payment in this way because their difficulties with language rendered it hard for them to understand the true nature of that payment and the fact that no further payments would be available. It may be their unfamiliarity with the system under which the payment was made which led them to act as they did. There may be a cultural issue related to, for instance, the need of a man injured at work to demonstrate to his friends or relatives that his role as a man and bread-winner has not been affected by his injury. The fact of resettlement may play a part in that someone who has only recently arrived in a country will clearly be far more torn between his old and his new country than someone who has been here for many years, and may, therefore, need to travel home in order to help make a final decision about his future. So in this instance, a range of factors associated with different aspects of the immigrant circumstance may all, individually or in combination, interact to cause immigrants intensified difficulties in dealing with this aspect of a service system.

The effect on a family of the injury of a worker is often considerable, but again for immigrants it is likely to be more so. In some communities, cultural perceptions of the role of the man as a husband, a father, and a bread-winner cause special trauma where injury renders these roles unable to be properly filled. The fact of resettlement may again play a part where, because of its newness in a country, a family is particularly dependent on the closeness and health of all its members. With few supports elsewhere in the community and weak links with the larger society, the impairment of the ability of one member of the family may mean that an injury in such a family has far more drastic effects than it would in a family which, because it was born in Australia, was able to find support elsewhere.

Again, the effects of injury on employment prospects affect most people but are likely to be exaggerated in their consequences for immigrants. An

Australian-born man who is fit only for light duties may well, at least in times of high employment, be able to find such work. An immigrant, however, is likely to be disadvantaged by his limited English language ability, especially where light duties are more likely to require good English than the factory work which he might have been doing in the past. Likewise, a cultural background may dictate that some work which might be physically acceptable is not culturally acceptable.

All the above problems arise from the range of situations encompassed by industrial injury and the workers' compensation entitlements within our social security system. Taken together, they indicate the sorts of ways in which immigrants may face difficulties dealing with that system which, though shared by other people, are aggravated for immigrants. In addition, it is possible to ascertain the particular factors reflecting aspects of the immigrant circumstance which cause that aggravation.

Yet another example, still in the context of industrial injury and the social security system, is that of the invalid pension. In the first place, immigrants are especially vulnerable to injury in the workplace because of difficulties in understanding written or spoken instructions with regard to safety procedures. They are also more likely to be working in injury-prone occupations because their recent arrival in the country makes them less aware of their rights and of the choices open to them, and makes them especially vulnerable to exploitation. Any invalidity which an immigrant may suffer either as a result of injury or illness may again be especially disabling because of the sorts of cultural factors mentioned above, and likewise because of the particular need for an immigrant to be fit which arises out of his recent settlement in Australia.

Another aspect of this situation which is reflected in immigrants' dealings with the social security system over invalid pensions concerns the special vulnerability of the immigrant to middlemen and agents - people who, rightly or wrongly, and in good conscience or not, claim to be able to assist immigrants to obtain their rights under the system. Such people often cause major difficulties for people on whose behalf they act, and they are far more likely, of course, to be acting for immigrants. The recent so-called "Greek Social Security conspiracy" case is a prime example of this. The difficulties which this causes for immigrants again arises out of the

language difficulties which immigrants may face in dealing with the system themselves and out of their lack of familiarity with the way in which the system operates.

#### Social Security Issues Unique to Immigrants

It has been suggested so far that many of the problems encountered by immigrants in their dealings with welfare systems, taking as an example the social security system, are specific instances of larger problems which affect others in their dealings with that system. The disadvantages immigrants face as a result of their difficulties with language or their failure to understand the system are only extreme versions of similar difficulties faced by other people. By understanding immigrant problems in this way, it becomes possible to understand those problems in the context of the needs of the entire community rather than a residual atypical minority, and to plan services accordingly.

However, there are some instances in which problems faced by immigrants are indeed unique. These instances usually arise out of specific legislative or programmatic provisions which single immigrants out in some way. In the social security system, the two most obvious such instances concern maintenance guarantees and residential qualifications. Maintenance guarantees arise out of the situation where a family, usually an immigrant family now resident in Australia, wishes to sponsor a close relative to join them in Australia. In order to do this, amongst other things, they must undertake to guarantee that the newly arrived family will not become a charge on the state and therefore will not need to claim normal social security entitlements. Instead, the sponsoring family will meet any financial contingencies which may arise. This system of maintenance guarantees has been strongly criticized by many people in the welfare area: it is seen as being discriminatory and as placing undue strains on both the sponsoring and the sponsored family. It denies the immigrant family basic social security rights accorded to all other Australians, and places on the sponsoring family an obligation not shared by other families. It is, therefore, a specific legislative provision which, for whatever reason, singles out immigrants and places special conditions on them.

Related to this issue is that of residence qualifications. Residence qualifications are the requirements that people live in Australia for specific periods before they are entitled to certain pensions and benefits -

for example, generally ten years in the case of aged pensions. The Department of Social Security has estimated that some 26,000 people of pensionable age are excluded from receiving an aged pension on residence grounds, although this exclusion has no effect on 15,500 of those from Britain and New Zealand because of the comprehensive reciprocal pension agreements with those countries. To many immigrants these qualifications appear anomalous, if not discriminatory, and are seen as seeming to favour British immigrants over others, and Australian citizens over all immigrants. The issue becomes more complex when considered in the light of the reciprocal arrangements which have been negotiated between Australia and some countries for payment of pensions but not between Australia and many other countries. However, without exploring this in detail, it is another significant area in which specific arrangements affect immigrants in unique ways.

Without going further into these instances which were, in fact, mentioned and suggested for review in the <u>Galbally Report into Migrant Services and Programmes</u>, it is sufficient to use them to illustrate the ways in which, within a particular welfare system, problems faced uniquely by immigrants may arise or be created.

A far more intangible but nevertheless very potent aspect of the way in which services may affect immigrants in unique ways arises out of the attitudes held by service deliverers to immigrants. In many cases, these attitudes will be negative, ranging from outright prejudice and discrimination to, more commonly, misconceptions and emotive judgments often coloured by crude culturally-based stereotypes. Where these attitudes are held, service received by the immigrant - especially in a face-to-face situation will be affected. It may simply mean that the immigrant receives short shrift, lack of attention, or is perceived in a caricatured or stereotyped way. Occasionally it might mean that the immigrant is, in fact, treated in a frankly hostile way. Usually, however, it will result in the immigrant receiving a less adequate level of attention than would be received by an Australian-born client. To be fair, in some instances, the situation may work in the immigrant's favour. There are certainly some people in any welfare system who are particularly aware of, and sympathetic to, the problems faced by immigrants and who will give more sensitive and concerned attention to the immigrant client.

The whole question of the way in which attitudes to immigrants affect the service they receive is only now being given some attention, usually in the form of the occasional "cultural awareness course" which the Galbally Report has gone some way towards initiating. However, the development of an integrated approach to the provision of services for immigrants at a face-to-face level, and the education of welfare workers in this, has gone no further than the parallel question of the integration of immigrant concerns into the planning and development of services. There is, therefore, little general understanding of the ways in which immigrants are affected by the perception held of them by service deliverers, even though this is as important a determinant of the quality of the welfare service received by immigrant clients as the more global question of policy and structure discussed above.

#### Example Two: Child Care

#### Child Care Issues Common to the Entire Community

As will already be evident, the categorization used in this scheme is not an especially tight or empirically rigorous one; rather it is a guide to developing an overall perspective. In some areas of welfare, difficulties occur which are so widespread in their range that they do not appear to reveal an immigrant/non-immigrant distinction - and yet, on closer analysis, they do cause greater problems for immigrants than for Australian-born citizens.

In the case of child care, the availability of child care facilities and the cost of child care is a matter of basic concern to a large part of the young working population whether or not of immigrant origin. However, inherent in the immigrant situation are several factors which make it likely that the high costs, or restricted availability of child care, will lead to immigrants encountering greater disadvantage than their non-immigrant counterpart. Accordingly, these basic issues are considered below, in the next category.

Issues Common to all but in which Immigrant Circumstance Intensifies
Problems

The consequences of the high cost of child care are especially disabling for immigrants. Particularly during the establishment period of their first years of settlement, the expenses incurred by immigrant families exceed those of Australian-born families, so that they are less able to meet additional expenses. Similarly, because immigrant families, especially during the early period of settlement, are less likely to have access to alternative, non-institutional forms of child care – such as that provided by family, friends, neighbours etc. – the consequences of child care being either too costly, or simply unavailable will be more serious for them.

Economic pressures, employer practices and vulnerability to exploitation in the workplace often result in both parents of immigrant families working, frequently during early or late shifts, and some distance from their home. Extended child care outside normal day-time hours is very hard to find. The above-average proportion of immigrant families involved in shift work arrangements, and their limited access to informal means of child care, combine to confront immigrants seeking satisfactory child care with special obstacles. All the factors described above as causing immigrants special difficulties in obtaining adequate child care arise out of their resettlement circumstances (see page 10).

Other aspects of the immigrant circumstance also play a part in effecting the immigrants' experience of child care. For immigrants from non-English-speaking countries, lack of knowledge of available resources and appropriate procedures, combined with communication barriers, place further obstacles in the path of those seeking child care. Paradoxically, too, some of the more progressive community-based child care centres which emphasize the importance of community and parental participation in the management of centres may limit the usefulness of their facilities to immigrants. Differing cultural roles, language barriers, pressures of other activities, or lack of understanding of the system may well result in immigrant families experiencing more difficulties in making use of such facilities than they would with more conventionally-run child care centres.

#### Child Care Issues Unique to Immigrants

In a matter so close to the most fundamental practical and emotional concerns of family life as child care, issues arising out of language use

and cultural difference confront immigrants with types of problems not faced by other members of the community.

Where, as is almost invariably the case, an immigrant family cannot secure child care arrangements in which the staff speak the family's language, they face a range of overwhelming frustrations and anxieties. In the first instance, this arises out of the inability of the child care workers to communicate with the child's parents; in this situation, matters of mutual concern cannot be discussed, trust is difficult to establish, and child care becomes yet another manifestation of the family's powerlessness in the community in which it lives. But equally disturbing to many families - and confirmed by much of the research into early language development - is the effect on the child of losing the use of home language at such an early stage of socialisation. There is evidence to suggest that if the home language is cast into a residual role - in which it is only spoken at home at the early pre-school years, the child may be handicapped in ever becoming proficient at that language, and his overall educational development may be impaired. Such evidence suggests that it may be better for children to spend the very earliest years of their language development in the language of their family, on the basis that as soon as they reach school they will have adequate opportunity to learn English. Certainly many parents hold this view and, certainly, too, most child care provision is unable to address the practical and emotional complexities involved.

The inability of most child care provision to meet different cultural standards throws up similar issues. Among the immigrant families wishing to use child care, there is likely to be a great range of different approaches to such basics as the role of men and women in dealing with children, the presentation of authority and control, interaction of boys and girls, types of play, dress and food, and so on. So fundamental are these issues that they present immigrants with challenges in child care unlike those faced by other Australians.

#### SECTION III: DETERMINANTS OF HOW SYSTEMS INTERACT WITH IMMIGRANTS

The preceding discussion - and indeed the whole of this paper - is based on the over-riding assumption that the way in which any specific welfare issue involving immigrants ought to be handled - whether at the research, planning or delivery stage - is best determined by considering its special place in the larger system in which it is located. In this way, the fundamental principle is established that immigrants are part of the total community to which any welfare activity is directed, rather than a second-class, peripheral minority; in this way, too, the larger systemic dimension of any specific issue affecting immigrants is taken into account from the outset.

The conceptual schema described here is, therefore, not an answer so much as an analytic guide to those seeking directions in matters of immigrant welfare.

So far this paper has considered two broad issues - first, the specific components of the immigrant circumstance and, second, the ways in which these circumstances interact with broad welfare systems in their effects on immigrants. In this section the various ways in which service systems respond to the preceding matters, and their determinants, will be considered.

#### a) basic orientation

One important determinant of the way in which service systems respond to, and often shape, the immigrant's experience of welfare delivery is in their basic orientation to immigrant needs and circumstance. This orientation is not necessarily, or even often, conscious or explicit, although it would be desirable that agencies and organizations give some deliberate attention to it. The first and most common agency orientation is that which might be described as assimilative and universal. In other words, it is assimilative in that it assumes a mono-cultural system of values, techniques and objectives to which those who are newcomers to the country must adapt; and it is universal in that it is directed at all people to whom its service is relevant, regardless of their ethnic background. Such an orientation, by definition, is unlikely to be sensitive to immigrant needs, to develop specific approaches and strategies which will accommodate problems in communication, differences in perception or

confusion as to goals, and may, in fact, be quite oppressive of immigrant clients. Hopefully by now few statutory authorities are pure forms of this type, as most of them have at least some minimal capacity to respond to the difficulties immigrants may have with the English language; however, as this is the only concession made to immigrant needs by many such authorities, and as even this is rarely effectively implemented, it would be true to say that many statutory and non-government authorities will tend towards this type. Certainly there are very few authorities which show a significant capacity to cope with ethnic differences at the level of objectives and values.

The second orientation is that which can be described as assimilative and ethnic-targetted. This orientation, like the first, does not allow for different objectives and values in the service which it delivers, but it is ethnic-targetted inasmuch as it recognizes that some of its clients may be of a different background to the Anglo-Saxon "norm". In other words, to some extent, such a service contains within it different strategies to enable it to reach different people, but it requires them all to conform to the same goals and objectives. Most statutory authorities would probably be of this sort, although the extent to which they are ethnic-targetted is usually very limited and confined to the fact that they may contain multilingual literature and possibly bilingual staff or access to interpreters. The Department of Social Security, Medibank, Commonwealth Employment Service, are of this sort. Ultimately they provide all people with the same service, that is, the same level of pension, the same type of job or job-seeking system, the same health care provision. They do not recognize different cultural values associated with health care, family roles or employment, nor do they understand the different experience which the clients may have of these in their countries of origin.

Though less obviously so, such an orientation is also likely to be oppressive because, whilst showing some awareness of immigrant difference, it ultimately requires all people to conform to the same objectives. However, to the casual observer, such an orientation may seem to offer considerable sensitivity to immigrants because it is aware of their different language capacities.

The third orientation is that which can be described as pluralist. Such an orientation would recognize immigrant difference, affirm the right of

immigrants and Australian-born clients alike to determine their own strategies and objectives, and work towards achieving the objectives chosen by any individual client in the light, at least partially, of his ethnic identity. There are probably no large-scale institutions or statutory authorities which conform to this description, although individual workers within them may seek to offer their clients some degree of choice. (Some community health centres are developing elements of such an approach). To be truly pluralist, a hospital would have to offer its patients comprehensive access to bilingual staff or at least interpreters, a choice of types of food, visiting arrangements and so on, and, more significantly, a range of medical and para-medical treatment which recognized non-Anglo-Saxon styles, different cultural values and experiences regarding such matters as family roles, herbal therapies, treatment only by staff of the same sex as the patient, and the like. A genuinely pluralist Commonwealth Employment Service would not take judgmental attitudes about, for instance, Turkish or Arabic claimants, would recognize the strain caused by migration on the family, especially on a bread-winner or adolescent, and would not be punitive in the event that a job suitable to the claimant's interest - as distinct from language capacity - could not be found. A pluralist Department of Social Security would show an understanding of the cultural imperative common in many communities to give absolute priority to the repayment of loans and would take this into consideration when making special benefit payments.

(Of course, pluralism would not always be attractive in its implications. Some cultural standards are not necessarily consistent with progressive welfare thinking. A genuinely pluralist Department of Social Security would, for instance, be under some pressure from some ethnic groups to decrease or even do away with payments to single mothers where their husbands felt that the breakup of the family had been at the initiative of the mother.)

Even at the non-government level, it is difficult to find many service agencies which are genuinely pluralist. Some personal counselling agencies may have a capacity to respond to the particular needs and values expressed by their clients; although here, too, many such agencies operate within a particular and fairly rigid value framework.

Finally, an agency orientation may be ethnic. This means that it is consciously directed at the values and objectives associated with a particular immigrant or ethnic identity. Such agencies are usually associated with particular ethnic groups, and often offer the only hope for an immigrant of receiving a service which in some way meets his needs. These agencies, however, suffer many difficulties. They are often underresourced and inexperienced. They face a particular difficulty in responding both to the particular ethnicity of their clients and the larger constraints of a community which is generally not very sympathetic to that ethnicity. Their own staff, as well as their clients, may feel acute tensions and strains within their own identity. Almost by definition, the orientation of an ethnic agency places it at odds with the larger community and in a residual status. In some instances the larger community may attempt to give an ethnic agency some particular and sympathetic attention; however, as likely as not, this will largely be token and the agency runs then the further risk of being manipulated or co-opted by the larger community.

#### b) location

A second determinant of the way in which service systems respond to, and often shape, the immigrant's experience of welfare delivery is in their location within the larger welfare structure. Here the basic issue as far as services which are sensitive to the needs of immigrants are concerned is similar to that concerning any group with special needs; namely, are services provided from within a universalist structure whose target is the entire community or from within a separate and distinct structure whose target is the special need group. In this country, most of the fundamental welfare services are delivered from within a universalist structure. It tends to follow that - unless they specifically address this issue most such services will not have a high degree of specific responsiveness to immigrant needs. By their very nature, services which are located within universalist structures are likely to have an orientation which is either assimilative and universal or, at best, assimilative and to some degree ethnic-targetted. Services which are pluralist or ethnic are more likely to be found in separate structures which are not associated with, or have developed in reaction to, the larger universalist systems. Typically, the difference is that between, for instance, the Department of Social Security, a large general hospital or the Victorian Housing

Commission on the one hand and, on the other hand, the Australian Greek Welfare Society, Victorian Ethnic Child-care Co-operative, the Indo-Chinese Refugee Association, or the Ecumenical Migration Centre.

It is from within this basic pattern that services for immigrants are determined. Many people would argue that as long as this basic pattern continues, immigrants will, by definition, continue to receive a secondclass residual welfare service from a society which has failed to recognize the implications of its multiculturalism. Certainly, there are significant issues to be explored. The whole question of whether services to immigrants should be delivered from within universalist or specifically ethnic structures is one of some controversy. The very concept of specific ethnic structures remains unclear. This has been demonstrated fairly recently, for instance, by the Galbally Report's proposal for Migrant Resource Centres and the difficulties experienced in implementing that proposal. One of the basic confusions in such arrangements concerns whether such ethnic welfare structures are to be concerned with one particular ethnic group, or whether This latter seems to have been the idea they can be multi-ethnic. envisaged by the Galbally proposals; it has, however, proved extremely difficult to implement, and often appears to mean little more than the old concept of 'New Australians' as people who, because of their non-Anglo-Saxon origin, can therefore be dealt with under one category. The purpose, target, strategy and organization of such structures remain to be properly explored in our community.

Arising out of this largely overlooked issue of the effect of the structure and location of a welfare system on its service to immigrants, there can be posed for any type of welfare activity a series of questions which might determine the appropriate system structure. Should immigrants be served from within the universalist structure relevant to their overall needs, or by a separate structure? If the former, for what reason, and with what orientation? How is it to operate? If the latter, why? Where a separate ethnic-specific structure does seem preferable, should it be established and financially supported by its parent universalist system either on a contractual or secondment basis, or should it be an entirely independent structure, funded by, and accountable to, an ethnic community?

Usually, in our community, the options are fairly polarized. Most services which are ultimately the responsibility of statutory universalist

structures are not transferred in any way at all to ethnic specific structures. The Department of Social Security, for instance, functions almost exclusively only through its own regional offices. The Welfare Rights Programme was, however, an interesting and exceptional example in which ethnic structures, which were independent in origin, were given financial support to perform an outreach function for the larger structure. Ethnic child care workers, funded by the Office of Child Care, perform similar roles. The grant-in-aid arrangements of the Commonwealth Department of Immigration also provide some opportunities for ethnic groups or other pluralist agencies to develop their own service systems with the support of a government department. Rarely, however, does systematic thought seem to be given to the way in which the specific functions of universal welfare structures can be made available to ethnic groups through ethnic specific structures.

Again, at this point it must be stressed that underlying this paper is the belief that there are no general answers to questions of services for immigrants; rather, options in terms of service orientation, service location etc. should be clarified and their implications understood so that any particular sector which is being considered by the Social Welfare Research Centre can retain within that consideration an understanding of the issues relevant to immigrants.

## c) working methods

Alongside the orientation and location of welfare systems, a third determinant of the way in which systems respond to immigrant needs is their day-to-day operation and working methods. Without the operational capacity to work effectively with immigrant clients, a philosophy sympathetic to multiculturalism may be of little consequence. A considerable range of issues is relevant here, and many of them have been neglected in welfare to date.

The nature of the particular working methods which need be considered will vary to some extent depending on whether the system is basically a personal service system or a planning and policy-making system. Within a personal service system, the chief areas which will affect the nature of the service provided for immigrants are the following:

First, the type of personnel employed. The nature of recruitment and training will in part determine the capacity of a personal service system to respond to immigrants. The use made of non-Anglo-Saxon staff, staff with a bilingual capacity, interpreters and the like is probably the single most significant variable. Where a diversity of staff is available, their role and deployment become critical. One of the issues currently of greatest concern to agencies in which such staff are available concerns the role of interpreters, ethnic workers, ethnic aides and the like, along-side Anglo-Australian staff who tend still to have more formal professional training and positions of greater influence within agencies, but, in some settings, a diminishing legitimacy or credibility. Role conflict between Anglo-Australian and ethnic staff, role strain and role confusion within ethnic staff, uncertain perceptions on the part of clients, are highly troubling and contentious issues in many such agencies. Extremely little research or consideration has been given to these questions, however.

Second, the styles and techniques of direct worker-client interaction are significant influences on the nature of the services. Related to this is the place of cultural knowledge. There is a growing tendency amongst workers in the welfare field to be aware of the importance of cultural knowledge; however, within this increasing sensitivity, there is the risk, referred to earlier in this paper, that cultural knowledge of a limited degree will produce rigid stereotyped thinking rather than a genuine capacity to integrate cultural knowledge into other considerations, especially those dealing with resettlement issues. The way in which agencies and staff are responding to the issues of cultural sensitivity is therefore a key concern in the present period.

Third, the communication strategies utilized by agencies in their direct work with clients critically affect their ability to provide effective services to immigrants. The awareness of the role and availability of interpreters, skill in using interpreters, understanding of the effects of using interpreters on the dynamics of interviews and casework, knowledge and capacity to provide alternative communication strategies are vital considerations. In the past, these matters have almost entirely been neglected and often a partial awareness of the need for communication strategies has resulted in further problems, such as where children or untrained people are used to provide interpreting functions. An investigation, therefore, of the way in which agencies develop communication

strategies for their immigrant clients is a vital criterion for assessing their service to immigrants.

Fourth, the way in which agencies seek to establish their client market and make their services known is an aspect of their overall responsiveness to immigrants which is easily overlooked. Agencies often complain that the whole question of immigrants is not relevant to them because they have no immigrant clientele. Often this reflects not a lack of need but a failure of the agency to demonstrate to immigrants that the agency offers a service which can be of use. The extent to which immigrants use agencies is a powerful indication of the extent to which those agencies have incorporated an awareness of immigrant need in their operation.

For agencies whose emphasis is on planning and policy-making rather than personal service, some of the foregoing considerations may be relatively less important than some others. However, the question of recruitment, training, deployment and role of ethnic personnel would apply to such agencies with equal force. The chief difference with planning and policymaking agencies may be that their accountability to their clients and within them to immigrants will be less obvious. A personal service agency which fails to meet the needs of its immigrant clients will probably be confronted with this failure fairly evidently through the reaction of the individual client. In agencies whose relationship with the client group is more attenuated or less visible, the accountability issue will be harder to acknowledge. A key issue, therefore, determining the response of such agencies to immigrant needs will be the nature of their decision-making processes and, within those processes, the role given to immigrant or ethnic representation. This is a matter of special interest to immigrant communities, and one which often generates a good deal of fairly emotive dispute.

Quite understandably, it is often felt that if such agencies are to adequately consider immigrant issues within their programme, immigrants (or "ethnics") must be represented in their decision-making and policy development level. The question, however, immediately arises as to how this representation is best secured. The problem is that there is no easily-defined immigrant constituency. As has been argued throughout this paper, the immigrant constituency encompasses an enormous diversity of experience

and circumstance in terms of culture, background, nature of immigration, settlement patterns in Australia and so on. Where accountability has to be secured through an indirect means as distinct from a one-to-one encounter with the immigrant client, it is extraordinarily difficult to envisage how one person, or several people, can make the necessary representative link. Can one immigrant be taken to represent the immigrant or ethnic constituency? Do different ethnic groups need to be represented individually? Do people from different waves of immigration need to be represented individually? Is it preferable to be represented by people who are themselves immigrants, or by people who are of immediate immigrant origin, but themselves Australian-born and can perform bridging functions? How many people need to be represented so that such representation is more than token?

Nor is it at all clear whether the presence of immigrants at such levels is any guarantee that immigrant issues will be considered - or properly understood. Those selected may be accountable to a somewhat specific ethnic constituency to which they may bear a rather political relationship. Alternately, their choice by the agency may involve a process of manipulation, tokenism or co-option, or place the representative under some strain. The chosen representative may have no special competence or understanding. Ultimately, it may be that a properly understood and accepted view, shared by the entire agency staff, of an integrated place for immigrant concerns in the agency's total operation, may be more effective than a formal structure of immigrant representation. Certainly the employment of immigrants among the agency's staff, and consultation by the staff with other immigrant workers in the field, is likely to be a more significant influence on the day-to-day effectiveness of an agency's work with its immigrant clients. However, immigrant representation may remain important for symbolic as well as substantial reasons.

### SECTION IV: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

This paper has been written as a background paper for the Social Welfare Research Centre in order to raise questions of ethnicity as they relate to the Centre's research programme. I have not seen it as my brief to suggest topics, and the comments here are made largely in ignorance of the overall way in which the research directions for the Centre are being established. I have, therefore, sought instead to suggest some ideas and develop a conceptual framework by which the Centre may be guided in its own decision-making.

The framework which it seems to me might be useful is one which:

- a. Identifies the aspects of immigrant circumstance with some precision so that it becomes meaningful to talk about immigrant problems and identify the relevant variables;
- b. Sets out a general typology of ways in which these aspects of the immigrant circumstance may interact with larger systems of whatever nature;
- c. Suggests those aspects of the orientation, location and operation of a service system which may affect the interaction between it and its clients.

In considering what this might mean for the specific research directions of the Centre, the following possibilities appear:

1. A rather ambitious and comprehensive task would be for the Centre to explore in some detail the pattern suggested in this paper and, by reference to empirical examples in various welfare sectors, to attempt to confirm or fill out the linkages which are suggested here between the immigrant circumstance, nature of system and interaction with system. This task could either be done at a fairly abstract and conceptual level in the way presented here, or, through being applied in some detail and through a process of research monitoring and consultation, to actual welfare systems, in the way which has been briefly attempted by way of example with the social security and child care systems.

- 2. A somewhat more modest but deeper analysis of the above conceptualization might involve examining only specific components of the overall pattern suggested. Thus the role of communication difficulties or cultural difference in a range of services might be examined. Alternately, the place of pluralist or ethnic structures across a range of service systems might be studied. There is quite a vast number of questions of some importance which could be examined, and applying them across different service systems would certainly yield some important comparative material.
- 3. The material above might be used as an overall framework to be utilized as part of any substantive area of study taken on by the Centre, no matter what its overall origin and purpose. In other words, if it is determined, for whatever reason, that public housing, pre-school facilities, women's refuges, family allowances or whatever are to be studied, the use of this framework in the way suggested earlier might assist in ensuring that the ways in which these issues are relevant to immigrants are examined in the course of that study. Indeed, it would probably be in accord with the overall argument of this paper to suggest that this approach might be the most fruitful one, as it ensures that immigrant issues are not given a residual or isolated status, but are integrated with the overall welfare concerns of the Centre. A firm policy decision to take this approach throughout all studies to be conducted by the Centre might also be of some assistance in resolving the problem which already confronts the Centre, and which has been discussed above, of how immigrant and ethnic representation is best incorporated into the decisionmaking structure of the Centre itself. A clear, defined and visible commitment to the systematic incorporation of issues of concern to immigrants in all spheres of the Centre's programme might make the need for such representation at a very conspicuous level a little less urgent, and might therefore create an overall context in which more flexible approaches to dealing with this issue can be considered.
- 4. The Centre could take on within its research projects the

specific investigation of particular immigrant problems in dealing with welfare. There are, of course, countless numbers of these. There are frequently described and analyzed and there is also, at least in some instances, a considerable amount of research data available. While it is important that any problems faced by immigrants should be acknowledged and understood, it might be preferable that they no longer be studied in isolated ways, but rather integrated into wider concerns as the earlier options presented here would suggest. However, there is a role for the study of particular immigrant problems inasmuch as their study is the first step to dealing with them, and can then be integrated into the wider frameworks suggested above.

Some immediate issues of pressing concern in this context include:

- the effect of current immigration law, with regard to family reunion policy, deportation practices and/or appeal procedures, on immigrant settlement and welfare;
- the implications of the ageing of the immigrant population for services for the elderly, family life etc.;
- the combined effects of residence qualification for eligibility for pensions, of maintenance guarantees, and of the withdrawal of tax rebates for payments made to relatives overseas:
- the experiences of agencies employing ethnic workers and aides, and the nature of client response;
- the use of child care facilities by immigrants;
- the whole field of workers' compensation;
- the role of informal welfare workers and networks;
- the effect of bultural awareness' courses for welfare workers on agency and services, and the nature of client response;

- the personal counselling services available to immigrants facing marital problems, intergenerational family conflicts etc.
- the effectiveness of rehabilitation services for immigrants suffering industrial - or other - injuries.

# DIAGRAMMATIC SUMMARY : Social Security APPENDIX A Common to entire community - levels of benefits - limited appeal procedures - restriction on eligibility Common to all but special circumstances affecting immigrants - access, information and awareness . due to language and communication difficulties at face-to-face and documentation level ( L & C )\* - workers' compensation . lack of information and knowledge (L&C) (E) (L&C) . use of lump sum to return home ( E ( C ( R ) ( C . effect on family ( R (L&C) . employment prospects limited ( C - invalid pension . special vulnerability of immigrants to ( L & C ) injury and to injury-prone employment ( R ( C . disabling effect of invalidity ( R . vulnerability to middlemen and agents (L&C) ( E ) Distinctive to immigrants - maintenance guarantees - eligibility criteria

- reciprocity

\* L & C = language and communication factors

C = cultural factors
E = experience factors
R = resettlement factors

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

There is a vast amount of literature available on many of the issues discussed in this paper; at the same time, there are many gaps and deficiencies in that material.

For any serious consideration of any of these issues, reference to the holdings of the Clearing House on Migration Issues (CHOMI) is essential.

- The Stocklist of the CHOMI lists, under a range of topics, several hundred items, published or reprinted by the CHOMI, and available for purchase.
- More extensive, and regularly up-dated, listings of relevant Australian and overseas literature, including its availability and location, can be found in CHOMI's annotated accessions list, <u>Documentation and Abstracts</u> Service.
- Several Bibliographies have been published by CHOMI: of special relevance is
  - No.8: Welfare: Practice and Education, Culture and Ethnicity.

An especially useful critical review of recent, local documentation on immigrant welfare is contained in "It's Not the Thought That Counts ...: Reviews of the Immigrant Situation before Galbally", Lidio Bertelli, in Migration Action Vol. IV No.1 (1978). This is published by the Ecumenical Migration Centre, and available from CHOMI.

The items cited below are recent additions, not listed in the Bertelli article, and of special relevance to this paper.

- Asconte, M.K., Newmark E. and Blake C.A. (eds.): Handbook of Intercultural Communication, Beverly Hills, Sage Publications 1979.
- Bertelli, Lidio: <u>Italo-Australians</u>: <u>Some Facts and Figures</u>, North Fitzroy, CIRC (CIRC Paper No.24) 1980.
- Bertelli, Lidio: Where to the Italo-Australians? A Profile of Second-Generation Italians in Australia and Some Issues of Concern, North Fitzroy, CIRC (CIRC Paper No.25) 1981.
- Casey, H. and Yaman N.: "Slow Down the Line": Occupational Health Hazards among South American and Turkish Workers in Flemington, Flemington, Flemington Community Health Centre, 1980.

## Bibliography

- Cox, D.: Migration and Integration in the Australian Context, Melbourne, University of Melbourne, 1980.
- Gelfand, D. and Kutzik, A. (eds.): Ethnicity and Aging: Theory Research and Policy, New York, Springer, 1979.
- Giordano, J.: Ethnicity and Mental Health: Research and Recommendations, New York, Institute of Human Relations, 1973.
- Hearst, Susan: Ethnic Communities and Their Aged: Richmond, CHOMI/ECC (Vic.), 1981
- Kaplan, R.B.: The Language Needs of Migrant Workers, Wellington, N.Z.C.E.R., 1980.
- Keam, R.G.: "If you can make my voice heard", Melbourne, Health Services Research Group, 1979.
- McDonald, R. (ed.): Maintenance Guarantees, Sydney, N.S.W. Council on the Ageing (Background Paper No.1), 1980.
- Marjoribanks, Kevin: Ethnic Families and Children's Achievements, Sydney, George Allen & Unwin, 1980.
- Medical Manpower Supply: Report of the Committee of Officials, Canberra, AGPS, 1980.
- Safety and Health of Migrant Workers International Symposium, Geneva, I.L.O., 1979.
- Sherrington, G.: Australia's Immigrants 1788-1978, Sydney, George Allen & Unwin, 1981.
- Survey into the Information Needs of Migrants in Australia (Final Report),
  Report to the Commonwealth Department of Immigration and Ethnic Affairs
  by W.D. Scott and Company in association with Australian Sales
  Research Bureau, Canberra, AGPS, 1980.
- Survey into the Information Needs of Migrants in Australia: Summary of Findings, Summary of Report to the Commonwealth Department of Immigration & Ethnic Affairs by W.D. Scott and Co. in association with Australian Sales Research Bureau, Canberra, AGPS, 1980.
- Thompson, Stephanie Lindsay: <u>Australia Through Italian Eyes</u>, Melbourne, Oxford University Press, 1980.
- Tkalcevic, Mato: Croats in the Australian Society, Melbourne, Community Services Centre, 1980.
- Tkalcevic, Mato: Macedonians in the Australian Society, Melbourne, Community Services Centre, 1980.
- Tkalcevic, Mato: Serbs in the Australian Society, Melbourne, Community Services Centre, 1980.
- Viviani, Nancy: Australian Government Policies on the Entry of Vietnamese:

  Record and Responsibility, Griffith University, Nathan, 1980.

  (CSAAR Research Paper No.7)
- Viviani, Nancy: The Vietnamese in Australia: New Problems in Old Forms, Griffith University, Nathan, 1980. (CSAAR Research Paper No.11)
- Wilkinson, P.J. (ed.): Education for a Multicultural Society A Kit for Educators, Richmond, CHOMI, 1981
- Young, C.; Petty, M. and Faulkner A.: Education and Employment of Turkish and Lebanese Youth, Canberra, AGPS, 1980.

## **SWRC Reports and Proceedings**

- No. 1 J. Moller (ed.), Data for Welfare Decision Making, September 1980, 51 pp. \$4
- No. 2 Peter Saunders (ed.), The Poverty Line: Methodology and Measurement, October 1980, 54 pp. \$4
- No. 3 Michael Morrissey and Andrew Jakubowicz, Migrants and Occupational Health: A Report, November 1980, 92 pp. \$3
- No. 4 Jan Carter, States of Confusion: Australian Policies and the Elderly Confused, January 1981, 50 pp. \$3
- No. 5 Adam Graycar and David Kinnear, **The Aged and the State: A Working Paper**, Revised edition, September 1982, 119 pp. \$4
- No. 6 Michael Liffman, Immigrant Welfare: A Research Perspective, April 1981, 40 pp. \$3
- No. 7 Bettina Cass, Unemployment and the Family: The Social Impact of the Restructuring of the Australian Labour Market, April 1981, 55 pp. \$3
- No. 8 Adam Jamrozik and Marilyn Hoey, Workforce in Transition: Implications for Welfare, May 1981, 74 pp. \$4
- No. 9 Robert V. Horn, Fiscal Welfare Effects of Changes in Australian Income Tax, 1972-73 to 1980-81, May 1981, 59 pp. \$3
- No.10 Concetta Benn, The Developmental Approach: Demonstration Programs in the Brotherhood of St. Laurence, May 1981, 20 pp. NO LONGER AVAILABLE
- No.11 Bettina Cass (ed.), Unemployment: Causes, Consequences and Policy Implications, August 1981, 72 pp. \$3
- No.12 Adam Jamrozik and Robin Beck, Worker Co-operatives: An Evaluative Study of the New South Wales Worker Co-operative Programme, August 1981, 178 pp. \$5
- No.13 Robert V. Horn, Extra Costs of Disablement: Background for an Australian Study, September 1981, 25 pp. \$3
- No.14 P. R. Kaim-Caudle, Cross National Comparisons of Social Services Pensions for the Elderly, September 1981, 47 pp. \$3
- No.15 Adam Jamrozik, Marilyn Hoey, Marilyn Leeds, Employment Benefits: Private or Public Welfare?, November 1981, 138 pp. \$3
- No.16 Linda Rosenman, Widowhood and Social Welfare Policy in Australia, January 1982, 75 pp. \$3
- No.17 Adam Graycar and Wendy Silver, Funding of Non-Government Welfare: Agencies Serving Disabled People in Western Australia, January 1982, 89 pp. \$3
- No.18 Vivienne Milligan and Margaret McAllister, Housing and Local Government: An Evaluation of the Waverley Community Housing Officer Project, February 1982, 109 pp. \$3
- No.19 Tania Sweeney and Adam Jamrozik, Services for Young Children: Welfare Service or Social Parenthood?, March 1982, 144 pp. \$4

No.20	Adam Graycar (ed.), Aged Care - Whose Responsibility?, March 1982, 49 pp. \$3
No.21	Bettina Cass, Family Policies in Australia: Contest over the Social Wage, May 1982, 41 pp. \$3
No.22	Tania Sweeney, An Analysis of Federal Funding of Children's Services - A Sourcebook, May 1982, 62 pp. \$3
No.23	David Kinnear and Adam Graycar, Family Care of Elderly People: Australian Perspectives, May 1982, 63 pp. NO LONGER AVAILABLE
No.24	Carol Keens and Bettina Cass, Fiscal Welfare: Some Aspects of Australian Tax Policy. Class and Gender Considerations, September 1982, 55 pp. \$3
No.25	Jill Hardwick and Adam Graycar, Volunteers in Non-Government Welfare Organisations in Australia: A Working Paper, September 1982, 41 pp. \$3
No.26	Robert Pinker, Theory, Ideology and Social Policy, October 1982, 23 pp. \$2
No.27	Adam Jamrozik and Marilyn Hoey, Dynamic Labour Market or Work on the Wane? Trends in the Australian Labour Force 1966-1981, December 1982, 100 pp. \$4
No.28	Adam Graycar, Government Officers' Expectations of Non-Government Welfare Organisations: A Discussion Paper, December 1982, 93 pp. \$3
No.29	Jan Carter, Protection to Prevention: Child Welfare Policies, January 1983, 76 pp. \$3
No.30	Peter Travers, Unemployment and Life-History: A Pilot Study, June 1983, 75 pp. \$4
No.31	Jo Jarrah (ed.), 53rd ANZAAS Congress: SWRC Papers, June 1983, 118 pp. \$4
No.32	Andrew Jones, Selectivity in Children's Services Policy, June 1983, 68 pp. \$4
No.33	Ian Scott and Adam Graycar, Aspects of Fiscal Federalism and Social Welfare, July 1983, 80 pp. \$4
No.34	Jo Jarrah (ed.), Child Welfare: Current Issues and Future Directions, July 1983, 89 pp. \$4
No.35	Carol Keens, Frances Staden and Adam Graycar, Options for Independence: Australian Home Help Policies for Elderly People, December 1983, 119 pp. \$5
No.36	Diana Encel and Pauline Garde, Unemployment in Australia: An Annotated Bibliography, 1978-83,.  January 1984, 152 pp. \$5
No.37	Stuart Rees and Anneke Emerson, Disabled Children, Disabling Practices, January 1984, 129 pp. \$5
No.38	Chris Rossiter, David Kinnear and Adam Graycar, Family Care of Elderly People: 1983 Survey Results, January 1984, 100 pp. \$5
No.39	Randall Smith, Meals on Wheels in New South Wales: A Discussion Paper, March 1984, 48 pp. \$4
No.40	Bettina Cass and Mary Ann O'Loughlin, Social Policies for Single Parent Families in Australia: An Analysis and a Comparison with Sweden, March 1984, 86 pp. \$4
No.41	Adam Graycar (ed.), Accommodation After Retirement, April 1984, 51 pp. \$4
No.42	Linda Rosenman and Marilyn Leeds, Women and the Australian Retirement Age Income System, April 1984, 102 pp. \$5

No.64	David Wiles, Living on the Age Pension: A Survey Report, June 1987, 108 pp. \$5
No.65	Peter Saunders and Adam Jamrozik (eds), Social Welfare in the Late 1980s: Reform, Progress, or Retreat? (Proceedings of a conference held in Perth, Western Australia, on 27-28 March), June 1987, 180 pp. \$5
No.66	Jill Hardwick, Jenny James and Fiona Brown, Accommodation, Employment Policies and Services for People with Disabilities, October 1987, 130 pp. \$5
No.67	Peter Saunders (ed.), Redistribution and the Welfare State: Estimating the Effects of Government Benefits and Taxes on Household Income. (Proceedings of a Workshop held at the University of New South Wales on 13 May 1987), August 1987, 77pp. \$5.
No.68	Sara Graham, The Extra Costs Borne by Families Who Have a Child with a Disability, September 1987, 146 pp. \$5
No.69	Peter Saunders and Peter Whiteford, Ending Child Poverty: An Assessment of the Government's Family Package, December 1987, 86 pp. \$5
No.70	Peter Saunders and Adam Jamrozik (eds), Community Services in a Changing Economic and Social Environment, December 1987, 165 pp. \$5
No.71	Caroline Alcorso, Migrant Workers and Workers' Compensation in New South Wales, March 1988.  168 pp. \$5
No.72	Bruce Bradbury, Diana Encel, Jenny James and Joan Vipond, <b>Poverty and the Workforce</b> , March 1988. 125 pp. \$5
No.73	Donald Chandraratna and Michael Cummins, Ethnicity and Ageing: The Anglo Asian Experience, June 1988, 61 pp. \$5
No.74	Elizabeth Dean, Cathy Boland and Adam Jamrozik, Neighbourhood Houses in Tasmania: A Study in Community Development and Self-Help, July 1988, 88pp. \$5
No.75	Peter Saunders and Adam Jamrozik, Community Services Policy: Economic and Social Implications, (Proceedings of a conference held in Hobart, Tasmania, 27 May 1988), August 1988, 89pp. \$5
No.76	Sara Graham and Peter Whiteford (eds), <b>Support and Services for People with Disabilities</b> (Proceedings of SWRC Conference held in Sydney, 23 September 1988), February 1989, 55 pp. \$5
No.76	Alan Jordan, Of Good Character and Deserving of a Pension, March 1989, 64 pp. \$5

No.43	Ian Manning, Measuring the Costs of Living of Australian Families, April 1984, 70 pp. \$4
No.44	Tania Sweeney and Adam Jamrozik, Perspectives in Child Care: Experiences of Parents and Service Providers, April 1984, 201 pp. \$5
No.45	Ann Harding, Who Benefits?: The Australian Welfare State and Redistribution, April 1984, 147 pp. \$5
No.46	Andrew Jakubowicz, Michael Morrissey and Joanne Palser, Ethnicity, Class and Social Policy in Australia, May 1984, 125 pp. \$5
No.47	Rosemary Hooke (ed.), 54th ANZAAS Congress: SWRC Papers, June 1984, 231 pp. \$5
No.48	Graeme Brewer, The Experience of Unemployment in Three Victorian Regions, August 1984, 103 pp. \$5
No.49	Ugo Ascoli, Analysis of the Italian Welfare State: Some Implications for Current Australian Issues, August 1984, 58 pp. \$5
No.50	Chris Rossiter, Family Care of Elderly People: Policy Issues, December 1984, 83 pp. \$4
No.51	Vivienne Milligan, Jill Hardwick and Adam Graycar, Non-Government Welfare Organisations in Australia: A National Classification, December 1984, 189 pp. \$5
No.52	Richard Chisholm, Black Children, White Welfare? Aboriginal Child Welfare Law and Policy in New South Wales, April 1985, 150 pp. \$5
No.53	Bruce Bradbury, Pauline Garde and Joan Vipond, Bearing the Burden of Unemployment - Unequally. A Study of Australian Households in 1981, August 1985, 102 pp. \$5
No.54	Adam Jamrozik (ed.), Issues in Social Welfare Policy 1985: Perceptions, Concepts and Practice (SWRC Papers at ASPAA and ANZAAS), September 1985, 149 pp. \$5
No.55	Adam Jamrozik (ed.), Income Distribution, Taxation and Social Security: Issues of Current Concern, January 1986, 150 pp. \$5
No.56	Bruce Bradbury, Chris Rossiter and Joan Vipond, Poverty, Before and After Paying for Housing, February 1986, 101 pp. \$5
No.57	Adam Jamrozik, Sarah Drury and Tania Sweeney, Innovation and Change in the Child and Family Welfare System, February 1986, 139 pp. \$5
No.58	Diana Encel, Unemployment in Australia: An Annotated Bibliography, 1980-85, March 1986, 225 pp. \$5
No.59	Ruth Errey, Carole Baker and Sarah Fox, Community Care of the Aged: A Working Model of a Needs-Based Assessment Unit, May 1986, 139 pp. \$5
No.60	Adam Jamrozik (ed.), <b>Provision of Welfare Services to Immigrants</b> (Proceedings of SWRC Seminar, 26 May 1986), July 1986, 80 pp. \$4
No.61	Adam Jamrozik (ed.), Social Security and Family Welfare: Directions and Options Ahead (Proceedings of SWRC Seminar, held in Adelaide, 4 July 1986), July 1986, 140 pp. \$5
No.62	Jan Carter, In Debt and Out of Work, August 1986, 39 pp. \$3
No.63	Don Stewart, Workers' Compensation and Social Security: An Overview, November 1986, 179 pp. \$5